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A. PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner Zilla Crowley,1 appellant in the Court of Appeals, 

seeks review of the Court of Appeals’ decision (Op.) attached, 

filed July 23, 2024, affirming her conviction of second-degree 

murder. 

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Where police fail, for no legitimate reason, to obtain an 

electronic recording of the defendant’s custodial interrogation, 

does the due process clause of the Washington Constitution 

prohibit the admission of the interrogating officers’ testimony as 

to the defendant’s statements during the interrogation?  (Yes.  

This Court should recognize a state constitutional right to 

 
1 Ms. Crowley identified herself as “Michael Brower” on the 

night of the shooting, and many trial witnesses referred to her by 

that name and with the male pronoun.  She has since legally 

changed her name to Zilla Crowley.  See RP 188, 216-20.  This 

petition, like the Court of Appeals’ decision, refers to Ms. 

Crowley by her current name, altering the trial record where 

necessary. 
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recording, where feasible, enforceable through an exclusionary 

rule.) 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

At about 8 pm on May 20, 2020, Zilla Crowley called 911, 

hysterical, to report that she had accidentally shot her wife, Tuyen 

Brower.  RP 844-54, 890, 926.2 

Several paramedics and Sheriff’s deputies responded to Ms. 

Crowley’s house in unincorporated Thurston County.  RP 878-79, 

921-23, 993-97, 1011-13, 1033-34, 1074-75, 1121-23, 1171-72, 

1172-76.  The first to arrive were deputies Jordan Potis and Kyle 

Kempke.  RP 917. 

As deputies Potis and Kempke approached the house, they 

could see a person (Ms. Brower) lying in the open front doorway, 

and they heard another person (Ms. Crowley) counting, as she 

 
2 This brief uses only “RP” to refer to all the transcripts except 

those for the 3.5 hearing and the sentencing hearing.  It uses “RP” 

plus the date to refer to the latter, which occurred on February 9 

and 16, 2021 (3.5 hearing) and September 15, 2022 (sentencing). 
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performed CPR, and screaming, “‘[b]aby, no, don’t go’” and 

“‘[s]tay with me.’”  RP 881-82, 917-18, 928, 931. 

The deputies directed Ms. Crowley to come out, and she 

complied.  RP 881-82.  Deputy Kempke told Ms. Crowley, who 

was “howling” and “sob[ing],” that she was being detained, and 

she said, “‘I understand.’”  RP 934.  Ms. Crowley also told Deputy 

Kemke, as he placed her in handcuffs, that there were children in 

a back room of the house.  RP 935. 

Deputy Kempke placed Ms. Crowley in the backseat of his 

patrol car and rushed back to help Deputy Potis attempt to 

resuscitate Ms. Brower.  RP 935.  Ms. Brower had an apparent 

gunshot wound to her chest.  RP 1081.  She was not breathing and 

she had no pulse; a semi-automatic rifle was lying on the ground 

about an arm’s length from her head, its magazine removed and 

sitting next to it.  RP 883-84.  Paramedics never detected a pulse 

that night, and they ceased resuscitation efforts at about 8:25 p.m.  

RP 1001-02, 1005. 
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Between 8:45 and 9 pm, detectives Frank Frawley and 

Mickey Hamilton arrived at Ms. Crowley’s home.  RP 1171-74, 

1210; RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 69-70, 110.  They decided to interview 

Ms. Crowley, who was still handcuffed in Deputy Kempke’s patrol 

car.  RP 1177.  They determined that Detective Frawley would ask 

the questions while Detective Hamilton took notes.  RP 1177. 

The two detectives approached the patrol car at about 9:10 

pm.  RP 1211.  They opened the door to the back seat and 

introduced themselves as detectives with Thurston County.  RP 

1177.  Ms. Crowley responded by saying something like, “‘I’ll be 

honest.  I shot her,’” or, “‘I did it.  I shot her.  I’ll be honest with 

you and I’ll make this easy.’”  RP Feb. 16, 2021) at 76; RP 1177, 

1281-82. 

Detective Frawley told Ms. Crowley he appreciated the 

honesty but needed to advise her of her rights before asking any 

questions.  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 78; RP 1178.  The detective then 
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read Ms. Crowley her Miranda3 rights from his department-issued 

card and proceeded to interview her.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 18-19; 

RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 77. 

Detective Frawley recalled that the entire interview took 18-

20 minutes.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 31.  Detective Hamilton 

remembered it taking about 45 minutes.  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 96, 

98. 

The detectives had electronic recording devices with them, 

but they did not record the Miranda warnings, the alleged waiver, 

or any part of the substantive interrogation.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 

48-49); RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 78.  Instead, they took written notes.  

RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 51-54; RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 76. 

The detectives could smell alcohol on Ms. Crowley’s breath 

but did not believe she seemed impaired; she told them she had had 

one beer and some wine that night.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 16, 21; 

 
3 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 16 L. Ed.2d 694, 86 S. Ct. 

1602 (1966). 
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RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 79, 81-82, 86, 123.  Ms. Crowley correctly 

answered questions about what day of the week it was, where they 

were, who the president was, and the ages of most of her children.  

RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 88; RP 1181-82.  She gave an incorrect 

answer regarding the date, and she did not know whether her 

youngest child was two or three, or the birthdates of any of her 

children.  RP 1181-82, 1285-86. 

Turning to the events of the evening, Ms. Crowley told the 

detectives that she and her wife had been arguing;4 that Ms. 

Brower threatened to stab Ms. Crowley; that Ms. Crowley grabbed 

a rifle; and that “when [s]he grabbed it . . . the gun just went off.”  

RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 23; RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 85; RP 1184, 1286.  

She told the detectives that Ms. Brower had threatened to stab her 

 
4 Both detectives thought the argument was about Ms. Crowley’s 

gender transition.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 23; RP 1186.  But 

Detective Hamilton also testified that Ms. Crowley told them she 

had disclosed her gender identity to Ms. Brower several years 

earlier and it had not been a recent source of tension.  RP 1288-

89. 
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about 45 minutes before the shooting but was not holding any 

weapon when she was shot.  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 85; RP 1184. 

Ms. Crowley told the detectives that she had served in the 

Marine Corps for three years, before being honorably discharged.  

RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 22-23; RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 89; RP 1180-81, 

1286, 1305-06.  She said the rifle used to shoot Ms. Brower was 

normally kept in a Pelican case in couple’s bedroom, but that she 

had gotten it out the night before the shooting, to use the flashlight 

on its scope, and had then kept it out to clean it.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) 

at 24; RP 1187-88, 1287, 1294.  Ms. Crowley also told the 

detectives that she had been diagnosed “schizophrenic” and that 

sometimes she did not remember things that happened when she 

got angry.  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 88; RP 1305. 

At this point in the interview, one of the detectives asked 

Ms. Crowley several questions about her weapons training and 
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knowledge;5 she told the detective she had extensive weapons 

handling experience.  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 91; RP 1290.  A 

detective asked her to recite the “four fundamental safety rules of 

firearms handling,” and she recited three of them.  RP (Feb. 16, 

2021) at 91; RP 1306. 

One of the detectives commented that it was hard to believe 

someone with that experience could violate all four fundamental 

rules at the same time and shoot their wife in the chest.  RP (Feb. 

16, 2021) at 91-92; RP 1195.  Ms. Crowley responded, “‘I already 

told you it wasn’t an accident.  I pointed the rifle at her.  I was 

angry.  I just don’t remember it going off.’”  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 

92; RP 1195, 1307.  According to Detective Hamilton, Ms. 

Crowley said this “very matter of factually.  I almost got the 

impression [s]he was kind of annoyed that I asked it.”  RP 1307. 

 
5 The detectives gave conflicting testimony regarding who asked 

these questions.  Compare RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 24 with RP (Feb. 

16, 2021) at 91; compare RP 1195 with RP 1306-07. 
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Detective Hamilton then asked Ms. Crowley if, given her 

mental health history, it was “‘within the realm of possibilities that 

you did intentionally point the rifle at her, you did intentionally 

pull the trigger, but you just don’t remember that happening?’”  RP 

(Feb. 16, 2021) at 92; RP 1307-08.  The detective said Ms. 

Crowley then looked him in the eye, nodded, and said, “it is 

certainly within the realm of possibilities.”  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 

93; RP 1308. 

Detective Frawley then commented either that Ms. Crowley 

“‘center-punched your wife,’” or that she “‘shot her center mass,’” 

and Ms. Crowley responded, “‘Yes.  It must be muscle memory,’” 

or that she had great muscle memory.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 24-25; 

RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 93; RP 1193, 1308-09. 

At this point, the detectives gave Ms. Crowley some water 

and asked if they could continue questioning her.  RP (Feb. 9, 

2021) at 29; RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 96.  She initially said yes, but 

when they turned on their recording devices and re-Mirandized 
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Ms. Crowley, she invoked her right to counsel and questioning 

ceased.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 29; RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 97. 

On May 22, 2020, the State charged Ms. Crowley with one 

count of second-degree murder, domestic violence.  CP 3.  It 

amended the information shortly thereafter to allege Ms. Crowley 

was armed with a firearm and that she committed the offense in 

the presence of her or Ms. Brower’s children.  CP 4. 

CrR 3.5 Hearing 

The State moved pretrial to admit testimony by detectives 

Frawley and Hamilton as to Ms. Crowley’s statements during the 

patrol car interrogation. 

At the 3.5 hearing, detectives Frawley and Hamilton both 

testified that they had digital recording devices available during the 

interview but did not use them because they were waiting to find 

out what Ms. Crowley would say.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 48-49, 59; 

RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 74, 78, 125-26. 



 -11-  

At first, Detective Frawley testified that they didn’t record 

the interview because Ms. Crowley “had started talking to us so 

quickly.”  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 28-29.  Later, however, he seemed 

to imply that recording is necessary only when a subject is 

intoxicated.  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 57.  And later still, he testified 

that they did not record the interview because “we didn’t know 

what we were going to find out at that point.  It was an interview.”  

RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 59. 

Consistent with Detective Frawley’s second statement, 

Detective Hamilton testified that they decided not to record 

because they “were just trying to find out what information [s]he 

had, if anything, pertinent or if [s]he was going to talk to us.’”  RP 

(Feb. 16, 2021) at 78.  He explained, “‘[t]here was no point in 

getting the recording out if [s]he was going to refuse to talk to us.’”  

RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 78. 

Detective Frawley testified that the last two lines of the 

department-issued Miranda card read: “Do you understand these 
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rights that I’ve explained to you?” and “‘Having these rights in 

mind do you want to answer questions?’”  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 18; 

RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 116-17.  Both detectives testified that Ms. 

Crowley answered, “‘Yes,’” before they proceeded to interview 

her.  RP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 18; RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 78, 116-17. 

Ms. Crowley declined to testify at the 3.5 hearing.  RP (Feb. 

16, 2021) at 129-31. 

The State conceded the statements were made during a 

custodial interrogation, but it argued they were properly advised 

and voluntary.  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 138-39. 

Acknowledging that current Washington law did not require 

it, the defense asked the trial court to conclude that the State does 

not prove a knowing and voluntary waiver where police could have 

recorded the waiver but did not.  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 142-45. 

Regarding the interview more generally, counsel noted: 

If law enforcement had recorded this interaction 

the court would have an objectively factual record of 

the interview and would be able to assess the exact 
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words spoken by law enforcement and the exact 

words spoken by [Ms. Crowley]. 

 

RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 145. 

The court admitted the detectives’ testimony as to all Ms. 

Crowley’s statements.  RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 150-57.  It rejected 

the defense theory regarding digital recording: 

The court understands that the argument here is 

primarily there are additional methods of recording 

warnings and waivers, and those would be more than 

or in addition to sworn testimony, and while that is 

possible, the court finds that it’s not legally required, 

and the court finds that both detectives’ testimony 

was consistent based upon their experience and their 

recollection and that there’s no alternative testimony 

offered indicating that warnings were not provided.  

The court finds that by a preponderance of the 

evidence warnings consistent with the required 

Miranda warnings that were included on Detective 

Frawley’s card were provided and that [Ms. 

Crowley] indicated that [s]he had the rights in mind 

and that [s]he was waiving them and choosing to 

speak. 

 

RP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 156-57. 
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Trial testimony 

At trial, the State presented testimony by 13 witnesses.  RP 

838, 877, 920, 993, 1011, 1033, 1074, 1121, 1152, 1171, 1221, 

1272, 1362. 

Detectives Frawley and Hamilton testified to their 

recollection of Ms. Crowley’s statements, as detailed above.6  

Deputy Kempke testified to hearsay statements by one of the 

children in the home that night, to the effect that “‘[m]om and dad 

had been arguing and mom was throwing things,’” the kids stepped 

out of their room and dad told them to get back in the room, and 

then the kids “heard a loud bang and dad was screaming on the 

phone.”  RP 972-75.  RP 972-75. 

The State also offered testimony by Washington State Patrol 

forensic firearms examiner Johan Schoeman, to the effect that the 

 
6 At trial, the detectives did not testify regarding either the 

Miranda warnings or Ms. Crowley’s self-disclosed diagnosis of 

schizophrenia.  RP 1171-1211, 1272-1335. 
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rifle that killed Ms. Brower had no defects that would cause an 

accidental discharge.  RP 1233-34, 1240. 

Finally, forensic pathologist Dr. Eric Kiesel testified that the 

bullet that killed Ms. Brower traveled through her body in a 

downward trajectory.  RP 1388.  The State suggested this implied 

Ms. Crowley was standing when the shot was fired.  RP 1623. 

Otherwise, the witnesses testified to things like the layout of 

Brower / Crowley house and the weapons therein, and Ms. 

Brower’s official cause of death.  E.g., RP 1015-26, 1033-60, 

1390-92. 

The defense presented testimony by Ms. Crowley and 

forensic scientist Matthew Noedel.  RP 1411-82, 1541-66. 

Ms. Crowley testified that she owned four firearms, and that 

she frequently took them apart, reassembled them, and performed 

“drills” with the pistol, often in front of the children.  RP 1426-27.  

She acknowledged that this was not safe, and she said she no 



 -16-  

longer understood why she did not appreciate this before the 

accident.  RP 1478. 

Ms. Crowley testified that she and Ms. Brower got into an 

argument that evening, after the children had gone to sleep, 

because Ms. Brower thought Ms. Crowley was going to make her 

sleep alone, something she did not like.  RP 1440-41.  But she said 

the argument was over by the time Ms. Crowley decided to clean 

her rifle.  RP 1445-46. 

Ms. Crowley testified that her rifle was out that night 

because she had used its flashlight to find a cigarette she dropped 

between the slats of the front porch.  RP 1436.  As Ms. Brower was 

walking towards the front door, Ms. Crowley picked up the rifle 

and began cleaning it.  RP 1445-46.  As she was putting it back 

together, it went off.  RP 1446.  Ms. Crowley explained that she 

was “adjusting the buttstock down to fully collapsed, and that 

caused the bolt catch to be slipped and the bolt to slam forward 

which caused my finger to depress the trigger.”  RP 1448. 
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Ms. Crowley said at this point she froze, saw that Ms. 

Brower had been shot, and started panicking.  RP 1446.  She ran 

to the kids’ room to make sure none of them was hit, told them to 

stay where they were, and ran back to the living room and Ms. 

Brower.  RP 1446.  She called 911 as she frantically performed 

CPR.  RP 1450-52. 

Ms. Crowley testified that she had been handcuffed in the 

patrol car for about an hour before detectives Frawley and 

Hamilton interviewed her.  RP 1455.  By this time, she said, she 

was panicked and exhausted.  RP 1455.  She was also numb and 

shut down because she had heard over the patrol car’s dispatch that 

Ms. Brower had died.  RP 1456-57. 

Mr. Crowley said the interview began in a normal fashion, 

but that the detectives’ tone soon became accusatory and she 

realized they were not listening to her.  RP 1457-58.  She said she 

told them that she and Ms. Brower had argued about her gender 

identity in the past, but not that night.  RP 1458. 
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Ms. Crowley did not dispute telling the detectives that the 

shooting was non-accidental, but she said that her statement was 

sarcastic, and made only because she was exhausted and numb and 

the detectives weren’t listening.  RP 1458-59.  She said the same 

thing regarding her statements that an intentional shooting was 

“within the realm of possibilities,” and that she had “center-

punched” Ms. Brower.  RP 1459-60.  She testified that she did not 

intentionally shoot Ms. Brower.  RP 1460-61. 

Mr. Noedel testified that he agreed the rifle had no 

mechanical problems that would cause an “accidental discharge.”  

RP 1551-52.  But he said the rifle was nevertheless vulnerable to 

“unintentional discharge,” which could occur when the force of the 

bolt moved the weapon forward, even a miniscule distance, while 

someone’s finger was on the trigger.  RP 1550-58. 

In closing, the State argued Ms. Crowley was an abuser, 

who liked to feel power and control over her wife and children to 

make up for her own difficult childhood.  RP 1596-97.  It said her 
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panic that night was theatrics, that she intended to kill Ms. Brower, 

and that her attempts to disavow the statements she made to 

detectives Frawley and Hamilton were not credible.  RP 1597-

1620. 

The defense agreed that the shooting was a crime, but it 

sought conviction of the lesser included offense of manslaughter.  

RP 1651, 1680-81.  It argued the shooting was a tragic accident, 

and that detectives Frawley and Hamilton interviewed Ms. 

Crowley when she was traumatized and confused, yet they failed 

to record the interview or seek clarification of strange or 

contradictory answers.  RP 1651-69. 

The jury convicted Ms. Crowley as charged.  CP 122-26.  

Ms. Crowley timely appealed.  CP 158. 

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Ms. Crowley’s petition warrants this Court’s review, under 

RAP 13.4(b)(3), because it involves a significant question of law 

under the Washington Constitution. 
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Before the State may introduce evidence of a defendant’s 

statements during custodial interrogation, it must prove by a 

preponderance that the defendant understood their rights and 

waived them voluntarily.  State v. Radcliffe, 164 Wn.2d 900, 905-

06, 194 P.3d 250 (2008).  In the trial court, Ms. Crowley argued 

that the State does not meet this burden, as a matter of Washington 

law, if police fail for no legitimate reason to electronically record 

the interrogation.  RP 141-46. 

On appeal, Ms. Crowley acknowledged that the Court of 

Appeals, Division One, rejected this argument in State v. 

Spurgeon, 63 Wn. App. 503, 820 P.2d 960 (1991), and State v. 

Turner, 145 Wn. App. 899, 187 P.3d 835 (2008).  But she argued 

Division Two should decline to follow Spurgeon and Turner, 

because their reasoning is flawed and outdated. 

Specifically, she argued that the analysis in those cases was 

flawed because it relied on precedent addressing the State’s 

obligation to preserve and disclose exculpatory evidence, rather 
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than on precedent addressing custodial interrogations.  Op. Br. at 

29-32.  And she argued the policy reasoning in Turner and 

Spurgeon had been undermined by technological advances in the 

last 15 years.  Op. Br. at 33-38. 

The Court of Appeals rejected these arguments because the 

legislature recently enacted the Uniform Electronic Recordation of 

Custodial Interrogations Act (UERCIA), chapter 10.122 RCW, 

and did not incorporate any exclusionary rule.  Op. at 17-20. 

The Court of Appeals erred.  The scope of state 

constitutional protections is determined by the courts, not the 

legislature.  See State v. Villela, 194 Wn.2d 451, 459, 450 P.3d 

170 (2019) (“The constitution, of course, cannot be amended by 

statute, and while the legislature can protect constitutional rights, 

it cannot legislate them away.”). 

This Court should grant review, hold that article I, section 3 

of the Washington Constitution requires the suppression of 
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custodial interrogations that law enforcement fails for no 

legitimate reason to record, and reverse Ms. Crowley’s conviction. 

a. This Court should Overturn Turner and Spurgeon 

because their Constitutional Analyses are Flawed. 

 

There is no federal due process right to have one’s 

confession or interrogation electronically recorded.  United States 

v. Meadows, 571 F.3d 131, 147 (1st Cir. 2009).  But in State v. 

Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 58, 720 P.2d 808 (1986), the Supreme 

Court set forth six non-exclusive criteria for determining whether, 

in a given situation, the Washington State Constitution should be 

construed to extend broader rights to its citizens: (1) the textual 

language; (2) comparisons of the text; (3) constitutional history; 

(4) pre-existing state law; (5) structural differences; and (6) matters 

of particular state or local concern. 

Turner focused on the fourth and sixth Gunwall factors: 

preexisting state law and matters of particular state concern, 

respectively.  145 Wn. App. at 909-11. 
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Washington courts have long applied the exclusionary rule 

more broadly than have the federal courts, including in the context 

due process and Miranda.  See generally State v. Bonds, 98 Wn.2d 

1, 9-12, 653 P.2d 1024 (1982), and cases cited therein; State v. 

White, 97 Wn.2d 92, 109-10 & n.8, 650 P.2d 1061 (1982); State 

v. Davis, 38 Wn. App. 600, 605-06, 686 P.2d 1143 (1984). 

In Davis, the Court of Appeals held that under article I, 

section 3, the State may not comment on an un-Mirandized 

defendant’s post-arrest silence.  In so doing, the court declined to 

follow Fletcher v. Weir, 455 U.S. 603, 71 L. Ed. 2d 490, 102 S. Ct. 

1309 (1982), which held the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments 

permits such comments.  In construing the state due process clause 

more protectively, the Davis court explained:  

Adopting the position advanced by the State 

might . . . encourage police to delay reading Miranda 

warnings or to dispense with them altogether to 

preserve the opportunity to use the defendant’s 

silence against him.  A constitutional guaranty 

designed to protect society from improper police 

conduct becomes meaningless when it may be 
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obviated by law enforcement officials improperly 

withholding the Miranda warnings.  We decline to 

adopt such a rule of law. 

 

38 Wn. App. at 605. 

The appellant in Turner cited Davis, 38 Wn. App. at 605, 

arguing that it exemplified the kind of policy-based, state 

constitutional doctrine appropriate where local law enforcement is 

concerned.  See Turner, 145 Wn. App. at 909.  The Turner court 

dismissed Davis without substantive discussion, instead rejecting 

Mr. Turner’s arguments as incompatible with State v. 

Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d 467, 481, 880 P.2d 517 (1994).  Turner, 

145 Wn. App. at 910.  But Wittnebarger is inapposite. 

Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d at 474-81, rejected a claim that 

the Washington Constitution provides greater protections than the 

federal constitution as interpreted in Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 

83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963) and its progeny.  But 

Brady addresses the prosecution’s duty to disclose existing 

material and exculpatory evidence; it does not speak to law 
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enforcement’s duty, in the first instance, to create a record.  See 

State v. Taylor, noted at 4 Wn. App. 2d 1054, 2018 WL 3540027, 

at *3 (rejecting Brady claim on ground that police were not 

required to maintain the hypothetical records in question) 

(unpublished).  And a Brady violation triggers the extreme remedy 

of dismissal.  Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d at 475 (citing Arizona v. 

Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 109 S. Ct. 333, 102 L. Ed. 2d 281 

(1988); California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 104 S. Ct. 2528, 81 

L. Ed. 2d 413 (1984); Brady, 373 U.S. 83). 

By contrast, the appellant in Turner raised different policy 

concerns, about police interrogation procedures, and sought the 

more limited remedy of suppression.  See Turner, 145 Wn. App. 

at 910.  The appropriate analogy is Davis, not Wittenbarger.  And 

Davis, 38 Wn. App. at 605, supports the exercise of independent 

state constitutional authority, under article I, section 3, to enforce 

individual rights through the exclusionary rule, in the context of 

custodial interrogation. 
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b. This Court should Overturn Turner and Spurgeon 

because their Reasoning has been Undermined by 

Subsequent Developments. 

 

In both Turner and Spurgeon, the Court of Appeals 

concluded that, no matter how compelling it found the appellant’s 

policy arguments, any recording mandate for custodial 

interrogations should come through the legislative or formal 

rulemaking process, with input from stakeholders and the public at 

large.  Turner, 145 Wn. App. at 913 (quoting Spurgeon, 63 Wn. 

App. at 508).  This reasoning has some merit, but it no longer 

applies to bar the evidentiary rule Ms. Crowley advances. 

In 2021, Washington’s legislature enacted the UERCIA, 

which requires the electronic recording of all custodial 

interrogations in their entirety, where feasible, including those 

taking place in a police vehicle.  Laws of 2021, ch. 329 §§ 1-11.  

In doing so, our State joined at least two dozen other jurisdictions 

that had mandated such recordings by 2020, either through 

constitutional holding, court-promulgated evidence rule, or statute.  
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See Ark. R. Crim. P. 4.7 (Arkansas); Cal. Penal Code § 859.5 

(2017) (California); Colo. Rev. Stat. § 16-3-601 (2016) 

(Colorado); Conn. Gen. Stat. § 54-1o(b) (2014) (Connecticut); 

D.C. Code §§ 5-116.01–116.03 (2005) (District of Columbia); 705 

Ill. Comp. Stat. 405/5-401.5 and 725 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/103-2.1 

(2017) (Illinois); Ind. R. Evid. 617 (Indiana); Kan. Stat. Ann. § 22-

4620 (2017) (Kansas); Md. Code Ann., Crim. Proc. §§ 2-402 and 

2-403 (2008) (Maryland); Mich. Comp. Laws §§ 763.7–11 (2013) 

(Michigan); Mo. Rev. Stat. § 590.700 (2017) (Missouri); Mont. 

Code Ann. §§ 46-4-406–411 (2009) (Montana); Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 

29-4501–4508 (2008) (Nebraska); N.J. Court Rules 3:17 (New 

Jersey); N.M. Stat. Ann. § 29-1-16 (2006) (New Mexico); N.Y. 

Crim. Proc. Law § 60.45 (2018) (New York); N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. 

§ 15A-211 (2011) (North Carolina); Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 133.400 

(2018) (Oregon); Tex. Crim. Proc. Code Ann. art. 2.32 and art. 

38.22, § 3 (2017) (Texas); Utah R. Evid. 616 (Utah); Vt. Stat. Ann. 

tit. 13, § 5585 (2015) (Vermont); Wis. Stat. Ann. § 968.073 (2019) 
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(Wisconsin); Stephan v. State, 711 P.2d 1156, 1159 (Alaska 1985); 

Commonwealth v. DiGiambattista, 442 Mass. 423, 813 N.E.2d 

516, 533-34 (2004); State v. Scales, 518 N.W.2d 587, 592 (Minn. 

1994). 

The enactment of these statutes, by so many different 

jurisdictions, reflects a reality fundamental to Ms. Crowley’s state 

constitutional claim: absent exigent circumstances, recording a 

custodial interrogation is easy and advisable.  This was not widely 

recognized when Turner was decided, in 2008; today, it is so well 

known that it has been enshrined in statute or court rule in half the 

United States.  This sea change in standard interrogation practices 

warrants reconsideration of the holding in Turner and Spurgeon. 

While Washington’s new statute enshrines recording as an 

aspirational best practice, it lacks enforcement mechanisms.  The 

law requires the trial court to consider an unauthorized failure to 

record, in its admissibility analysis.  RCW 10.122.130(1).  And it 

provides that, where custodial interrogation statements are 
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admitted, the defendant must be allowed to present evidence of law 

enforcement’s violation.  RCW 10.122.130(2).  But these 

requirements add nothing to the federal constitutional standard.  

See State v. Unga, 165 Wn.2d 95, 196 P.3d 645 (2008) 

(admissibility of statements obtained during custodial 

interrogation determined “upon inquiry into the totality of the 

circumstances”).  They provide no meaningful incentive for law 

enforcement to comply. 

In this respect, Washington’s law is weaker than those in 

several jurisdictions, which enforce electronic recording policies 

through exclusionary rules or presumptions against admissibility.  

See D.C. Code §§ 5-116.01–116.03 (statement obtained in 

violation of recording policy presumed involuntary; presumption 

overcome only by clear and convincing evidence); Ind. R. Evid. 

617 (statement obtained in violation of recording policy presumed 

inadmissible); N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 15A-211 (statement 

obtained in violation of recording policy presumed inadmissible; 
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presumption overcome only by clear and convincing evidence that 

statement was voluntary and reliable); Tex. Crim. Proc. Code Ann. 

art. 2.32 and art. 38.22, § 3 (statement obtained in violation of 

recording policy inadmissible except as to “assertions of facts or 

circumstances that are found to be true”); Utah R. Evid. 616 

(presumption of inadmissibility overcome only by proof that 

statement has “substantial guarantees of trustworthiness and 

reliability equivalent to those of an electronic recording” and that 

admitting the statement “best serves the purposes of these rules and 

the interests of justice”); Stephan, 711 P.2d at 1159-65 (recording 

requirement enforceable through suppression, provided defendant 

creates factual question); State v. Inman, 692 N.W.2d 76, 81 

(Minn. 2005) (same).  And it is weaker than article I, section 3 

requires. 

Consistent with Davis, 38 Wn. App. at 605, and the 

widespread recognition that electronic recording is a simple best 

practice for law enforcement interrogations, this Court should 
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recognize a state constitutional recording requirement, enforceable 

through an exclusionary rule. 

E. CONCLUSION 

This Court should grant review, hold that article I, section 

3 of the Washington Constitution requires the suppression of 

custodial interrogations that law enforcement fails for no 

legitimate reason to record, and reverse Ms. Crowley’s 

conviction. 
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Washington courts have declined to recognize a state constitutional right to have custodial 

interrogations be electronically recorded.  And while the trial court erred by admitting certain 

testimonial statements, the error was harmless.  Thus, we affirm Crowley’s conviction.  However, 

because the LFOs Crowley challenges are no longer authorized by statute, we remand to the trial 

court with instructions to strike the challenged LFOs from Crowley’s judgment and sentence.    

FACTS 

A. BACKGROUND FACTS 

 On May 20, 2020, Crowley called 911 to report that she had shot her wife, T.D.N.B.  

Medical personnel pronounced T.D.N.B. dead on the scene.  Detectives Frank Frawley and Mickey 

Hamilton interviewed Crowley after she was detained.   

 The State charged Crowley in a fourth amended information with second degree murder—

domestic violence and with special allegations that Crowley committed the offense within the sight 

or sound of her children and while armed with a firearm.  Prior to trial, Crowley moved to suppress 

statements Crowley made to law enforcement during the investigation.   

B. CrR 3.5 HEARING 

 Prior to trial, the court held a CrR 3.5 hearing to determine the admissibility of Crowley’s 

statements to law enforcement.  Detectives Frawley and Hamilton testified at the hearing.   

 Detective Frawley testified that on May 20, 2020, he was called to assist with the 

investigation of a reported shooting.  After Detective Hamilton arrived on scene, they both 

interviewed Crowley, who had been detained in a patrol car.   
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1. Detective Frawley 

 Detective Frawley testified that after the detectives identified themselves and before any 

questions were asked, Crowley “immediately said that [s]he’d done it.  ‘I’ll be honest.  I shot her.’”  

1 Verbatim Rep. of Proc. (VRP) (Feb. 9, 2021) at 15.  Detective Frawley stopped Crowley and 

read Crowley her Miranda1 rights.  Detective Frawley then asked Crowley whether she understood 

her rights, and whether, having those rights in mind, she wished to speak to the detectives.  

Crowley responded “yes” to both questions.  1 VRP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 18.  The Miranda warning, 

Crowley’s waiver, and the interrogation were not electronically recorded.   

2. Detective Hamilton 

 Detective Hamilton testified that he was also present when Detective Frawley read 

Crowley her Miranda rights.  Detective Hamilton recalled that when Detective Frawley opened 

the door to the patrol car, Crowley “immediately said something to the effect that ‘I did it.  I shot 

her.  I’ll be honest with you and I’ll make this easy.’”  1 VRP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 76.  Neither 

Detective Hamilton nor Detective Frawley asked Crowley any questions before Crowley made 

these statements.   

Detective Hamilton recalled Detective Frawley asking Crowley whether she understood 

her Miranda rights.  Crowley responded that she did and agreed to speak with them.  This 

interaction was not electronically recorded.  Also, neither detective provided Crowley with a 

written Miranda waiver.   

                                                 
1  Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). 
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 During cross-examination, Detective Hamilton responded “[y]es” when he was asked 

whether he would want to document that a person waived their Miranda rights, but he 

acknowledged that his notes from the interview did not indicate any Miranda waiver by Crowley.  

1 VRP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 121.  On redirect, Detective Hamilton explained that he did not make a 

note about Crowley’s waiver because a waiver is so important that he would not forget about 

whether a waiver was made or not.   

 Following the detectives’ testimony, defense counsel argued that absent a recording of the 

interrogation, there was insufficient evidence that Crowley was advised of and waived her 

Miranda rights.  Defense counsel acknowledged Washington law did not support such an argument 

but asked the trial court to find that “there must be recording of the giving . . . and . . . waiver of 

Miranda when detectives are engaging with a person in a custodial setting and have the present 

ability to record.”  1 VRP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 142.  The trial court rejected defense counsel’s 

argument as “not legally required.”  1 VRP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 156.   

 Following the CrR 3.5 hearing, the trial court entered written findings of fact and 

conclusions of law.  The court ruled that the statements Crowley made after the detectives 

introduced themselves to her were spontaneous and admissible at trial.  The court also ruled that 

Crowley “was provided [her] Miranda rights . . . in accordance with Miranda v. Arizona” and, 

therefore, Crowley had voluntarily waived her Miranda rights when she made other statements.  

Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 12.  As a result, the court concluded that all of Crowley’s statements to 

Detectives Frawley and Hamilton were admissible at trial.   
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C. TRIAL 

1. 911 Testimony 

 Carrie Bowman, the 911 operator who received Crowley’s 911 call on May 20, 2020, 

testified.  The 911 call began at 7:53 PM.   

During the 911 call, Crowley said her kids were “in the back room.”  5 VRP (Apr. 20, 

2022) at 856.  When Detective Frawley responded to the scene, another officer on the scene  

“advised that there were four young children inside the residence.”  7 VRP (Apr. 25, 2022) at 1176.   

 2. Detective Kempke’s Testimony Regarding P.B.’s Statements 

 Detective Kyle Kempke testified that he arrived at the scene of the incident around 8:15 

PM, detained Crowley, cuffed her, and put her in the back of a patrol car.  Crowley told Detective 

Kempke that her children were inside the house, so after delivering an automated external 

defibrillator (AED) to another officer, Detective Kempke began to secure the scene.  Detective 

Kempke’s “focus was to find out whether there was anybody else in the house.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 

2022) at 938. 

 As Detective Kempke searched the residence, he almost immediately ran into Crowley’s 9 

year old daughter, P.B.  P.B. “was visibly distraught . . . crying, sobbing . . . hunched forward like 

her stomach hurt,” and “wringing her hands.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 937.   

 At that point, defense counsel requested that the trial court address an issue without the 

jury present.  The State then made an offer of proof of Detective Kempke’s testimony regarding 

P.B.’s statements.  During the offer of proof, Detective Kempke testified that he asked P.B. 

“‘[w]hat happened tonight,’” and that P.B. told him:  
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that mom and dad had been arguing and mom was throwing things.  That woke 

[P.B. and her siblings] up . . . . [P.B. and her siblings] went out of the room.  Dad 

told them to get back in the room.  [P.B.] heard a loud bang.  Then . . . [Crowley] 

was screaming at somebody on the phone.   

 

6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 941.  Detective Kempke added that as P.B. spoke, she became “shriller 

and shriller, more rapid fire . . . increasingly hysterical.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 941-42.   

Detective Kempke also testified that as he spoke with P.B., he “didn’t know whether this 

was going to end up being a crime,” but that he took notes during the exchange “in case it turned 

out to be important later.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 942.  Detective Kempke explained that he 

asked P.B. what happened to find out who was involved in the incident, whether anyone was hurt, 

“[b]asically an inventory of the scene.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 949.   

 In response to defense counsel’s questions during the State’s offer of proof, Detective 

Kempke clarified that he also asked P.B. how many kids were in the house.  P.B. responded that 

P.B. and two brothers were in one room and a two-year-old sister was asleep in another room.  

Detective Kempke then asked P.B.’s name and P.B.’s age before asking what happened that night.  

Detective Kempke did not have any reason to think that any of the children were injured at the 

time he asked P.B. these questions.  Defense counsel asked Detective Kempke whether notes were 

taken in anticipation of a homicide investigation, and Detective Kempke responded, “It could be, 

yes.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 943.   

 The State argued that P.B.’s statements were admissible because they were not testimonial 

and fell into the excited utterance hearsay exception.  The State asserted that the primary purpose 

of Detective Kempke’s interaction with P.B. was to respond to an ongoing emergency and that 

Detective Kempke asked P.B. what happened “to determine whether there were other actors in the 
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residence, other people on scene, other emergency situations that he should tend to.”  6 VRP (Apr. 

21, 2022) at 953 .   

 Defense counsel argued that even if P.B.’s statements were an excited utterance, they were 

testimonial and excludable under the confrontation clause.  Defense counsel noted that Detective 

Kempke initiated the exchange with P.B. and took notes “because it was possible that this could 

be a homicide investigation.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 956.  Defense counsel also argued that 

P.B.’s statements showed that P.B. was not asking for help or protection and that there was “no 

indication that [P.B.] was under the stress of an immediate threat of harm.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) 

at 957.  Thus, “an objective witness of this exchange could reasonably believe that [P.B.’s] 

statements would be available for use at . . . trial.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 957.   

 The trial court admitted P.B.’s statements, finding they were “not . . . testimonial . . . in any 

way, shape or form.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 961.  The court noted that Detective Kempke did 

not have a full accounting of the scene or what had happened when he arrived that night.  The 

court also emphasized P.B.’s demeanor, stating, “It is hard to imagine a situation that is more 

startling and more upsetting, especially seen through the eyes of a nine-year-old.”  6 VRP (Apr. 

21, 2022) at 961.  The court stated that P.B.’s “intent of providing information” to Detective 

Kempke “was to address in a child’s mind the horror of what she heard that night and to tell an 

adult about it to protect herself and her siblings.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 962.  Finally, the court 

noted that P.B.’s statements occurred only shortly after the shooting.   

 After the jury returned, Detective Kempke testified that P.B. told him, “‘Mom and dad had 

been arguing and mom was throwing things.  This woke us up,’” so they exited their room.  6 VRP 

(Apr. 21, 2022) at 973.  Crowley “told them to get back in the room,” and at that point, P.B. “said 
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she heard a loud bang and dad . . . screaming on the phone to somebody.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) 

at 973.   

 2. Detective Frawley and Detective Hamilton’s Testimony 

Detective Frawley testified that as soon as he and Detective Hamilton approached Crowley 

and identified themselves, Crowley said, “‘I’ll be honest.  I shot her.’”  7 VRP (Apr. 25, 2022) at 

1177.  Detective Hamilton also testified that Crowley said, “‘I shot her.  I’ll be honest.  I’ll make 

it easy for you.’”  7 VRP (Apr. 27, 2022) at 1281.  Detective Frawley described their conversation 

with Crowley as “kind of . . . calm,” noting that Crowley was not yelling, excited, or crying.  7 

VRP (Apr. 25, 2022) at 1179.  

 Detective Frawley then testified that when he asked Crowley what had happened that night, 

Crowley told him she and T.D.N.B.  had been arguing.  Crowley became angry, “grabbed the 

weapon . . . by the handgrip . . . and . . . when [s]he grabbed it . . . the rifle went off.”  7 VRP (Apr. 

25, 2022) at 1190.  Detective Hamilton also testified that Crowley told them she had been arguing 

with T.D.N.B., Crowley picked up the rifle and it went off, but Crowley did not know what 

happened.   

 Detective Frawley recalled that he commented on T.D.N.B.’s wound, telling Crowley that 

she had “‘center-punched [T.D.N.B.].’”  7 VRP (Apr. 25, 2022) at 1193.  Detective Frawley 

explained that by “center-punched,” he meant that Crowley hit the “center” of her target.  7 VRP 

(Apr. 25, 2022) at 1193.  Crowley responded by saying that “[s]he had great muscle memory,” 

which Detective Frawley understood to mean that Crowley acted “without even thinking about it.”  

7 VRP (Apr. 25, 2022) at 1193.  Detective Frawley recalled Crowley also saying, “[I]t wasn’t 

exactly an accident.”  7 VRP (Apr. 25, 2022) at 1195.  Detective Hamilton also testified that he 
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recalled Detective Frawley making the center-punched comment and that Crowley responded by 

saying, “‘Yeah, it’s probably muscle memory’” or “‘it’s muscle memory.’”  8 VRP (Apr. 27, 2022) 

at 1308.   

 Detective Frawley asked Crowley to list the basic rules of firearm safety, and testified that 

after Crowley did, he told Crowley that she had “‘violated all of [th]em.’”  7 VRP (Apr. 27, 2022) 

at 1195.  Detective Hamilton testified that he also asked Crowley about the rules of firearm safety.  

Detective Hamilton told Crowley that “it seemed difficult to believe that somebody with 

[Crowley’s] level of training and experience and background could disregard all of the 

fundamental” safety rules “and shoot h[er] wife in the center of the chest.”  8 VRP (Apr. 25, 2022) 

at 1307.  Crowley responded: “‘I already told you it wasn’t an accident.  I intentionally pointed 

the rifle at her.  I just don’t remember it going off.’”  8 VRP (Apr. 27, 2022) at 1307.   

 Detective Hamilton asked Crowley whether, in light of Crowley’s prior statement that she 

sometimes could not remember things that happened when she was angry, it was “‘within the realm 

of possibilities that you intentionally pointed the rifle at your wife, you intentionally pulled the 

trigger but you just don’t remember it going off?’”  8 VRP (Apr. 27, 2022) at 1308.  Crowley 

responded by nodding and saying, “‘It’s certainly within the realm of possibility.’”  8 VRP (Apr. 

27, 2022) at 1308.  Detective Frawley also recalled Detective Hamilton asking, “[I]f in all the 

realm of possibilities if this was not an accident,” and Crowley responding, “[I]t’s possible in all 

the realms of possibility that this was not an accident.”  7 VRP (Apr. 25, 2022) at 1195.   

 3. Expert Witness Testimony 

 The State also called Johan Schoeman, a forensic scientist, as an expert witness.  Schoeman 

testified that the rifle “was functional as intended by the manufacturer” and that he “did not detect 
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any defects on the firearm that c[ould] make it go off accidentally.”  7 VRP (Apr. 27, 2022) at 

1233.  Schoeman was asked whether, “if the bolt were to release, one would still have to pull the 

trigger for this firearm to fire,” and he responded, “Every time.”  7 VRP (Apr. 27, 2022) at 1251.     

 4. Defense Witnesses 

a. Firearm expert 

 Defense counsel called Matthew Noedel, a forensic scientist specializing in shooting 

incident reconstruction.  Noedel testified the rifle was not mechanically flawed and “function[ed] 

exactly as . . . designed.”  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1551.  Therefore, Noedel ruled out an “accidental 

discharge” as the cause of the shooting.  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1552.   

 Noedel explained that giving “a sharp blow to the butt of the gun,” or “jarring” it, could 

cause the bolt to “slam forward.”  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1553.  Jarring could occur where 

someone hit the back of the rifle’s buttstock.  However, Noedel clarified that “just because the bolt 

can slam forward doesn’t mean the gun will discharge at that moment.  You still need to pull the 

trigger.”  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1554.  He went on to explain that if someone had their finger 

on the trigger, “and the gun shift[ed] unexpectedly,” it could cause the shooter to “flinch or . . . 

squeeze that trigger.”  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1556.  Alternatively, “the momentum of the gun 

c[ould] cause” the shooter “to pull the trigger to the rear” and cause the rifle to fire.  9 VRP (May 

2, 2022) at 1556.  On cross-examination, Noedel testified that he “did not find a condition where 

. . . the gun would fire without pulling the trigger.”  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1561.   

b. Crowley 

 Crowley testified in her own defense.  Crowley began by providing some personal 

background, testifying that she served in the U.S. Marine Corps for about four years.  As part of 
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her training, Crowley learned “[b]asic marksmanship skills” and was familiar with “weapons 

safety.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1418.  She also testified that she and T.D.N.B. had four children 

together.   

 Crowley then recounted what occurred on May 20, 2020.  She testified that the conflict 

with T.D.N.B. started after Crowley got her pajamas from the bedroom she shared with T.D.N.B.  

T.D.N.B. became visibly upset and started yelling.  According to Crowley, T.D.N.B. “ha[d] a hard 

time sleeping without somebody in the room or bed with her,” so Crowley grabbing her pajamas 

upset T.D.N.B.  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1441.  Crowley testified that she was not yelling herself.  

Instead, Crowley tried to calm T.D.N.B. down.  According to Crowley, “[t]he discussion ended 

where [T.D.N.B.] stopped interacting with me at all” and focused on her phone.  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 

2022) at 1445.  T.D.N.B. subsequently calmed down.   

 While T.D.N.B. was on her phone, Crowley “went and picked up the rifle” and “started 

cleaning it.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1445-46.  She said the rifle went off as she reassembled it, 

but she did not “know how.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1446.  When asked why she picked the 

rifle up, Crowley explained that she had been “meaning to clean . . . the tip of the barrel” because 

it “had gotten . . . dirty” after she used it the night before.  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1446.  When 

asked what she was doing with the rifle when it went off, Crowley said she was “adjusting the 

buttstock down to fully collapsed.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1448.  To do so, she had to “pull a 

lever on the bottom and then . . . slide it forward.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1448.  This motion 

“caused the bolt catch to be slipped and the bolt to slam forward,” causing Crowley to pull the 

trigger.  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1448.   
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 After the gun went off, Crowley panicked.  She “threw down the rifle” and went to check 

on her children, telling them to stay where they were.  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1446.  Crowley 

then called 911 and attempted to perform CPR on T.D.N.B.  Once law enforcement arrived, 

Crowley was detained in the back of a squad car.   

 About an hour later, Crowley spoke with Detectives Frawley and Hamilton.  She testified 

that her conversation with the detectives started out as a “normal nice conversation” but then turned 

“argumentative [and] accusatory,” and that the detectives were not listening to her.  8 VRP (Apr. 

28, 2022) at 1457, 1458.  Crowley acknowledged telling the detectives that the shooting was not 

an accident, but said that she only did so “[s]arcastically.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1458.  When 

asked to explain what she meant by that, Crowley testified, “I was tired.  I was exhausted.  I was 

numb.  [The detectives] weren’t listening to what I was saying.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1458.  

Crowley thought the detectives understood she was being sarcastic because of their subsequent 

realm of possibilities question, which Crowley characterized as an abnormal question.   

 Crowley acknowledged answering, “[Y]es” when asked whether “it was within the realm 

of possibilities that [she] intentionally pointed the firearm at [T.D.N.B.], intentionally pulled the 

trigger and didn’t remember the gun going off?”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1459, 1460.  Crowley 

testified that she said yes “[j]ust to get it over with.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1460.   

Crowley also acknowledged nodding her head and saying, “[S]omething like it was 

probably muscle memory” when one of the detectives made the “center-punched” comment.  8 

VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1460.  Crowley acknowledged the detective because the detective had used 

a military term and because she “had already told him that [she] didn’t aim, didn’t intentionally do 
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this.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1460.  Crowley stated that she did not mean to shoot T.D.N.B., 

and that she was surprised when it happened.   

 On cross-examination, Crowley responded affirmatively when the State asked Crowley 

whether she “told the detectives that [she] intentionally pointed the rifle at [T.D.N.B.] and that 

[she was] angry.”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1472.  On redirect, Crowley reiterated that she was 

being sarcastic when she made that comment, that she did not mean it, and that it was not actually 

what happened.   

 5. Closing Arguments and Verdict 

 During closing, the State argued that the only contested element of the crime charged was 

whether Crowley intended to cause T.D.N.B.’s death.  The State argued that P.B.’s statement that 

Crowley told P.B. to go back to her room after she saw Crowley and T.D.N.B. arguing evidenced 

Crowley’s “presence of mind to have the children leave the room,” and thus her intent to kill 

T.D.N.B.  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1609.  The State also highlighted several of the statements 

Crowley made to the detectives as evidence of her intent to kill T.D.N.B.   

 Defense counsel argued that the shooting was “a tragic mistake.”  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 

1651.  Defense counsel also argued that the detectives’ testimonies were not reliable because they 

did not record their interaction with Crowley.  Defense counsel further argued that Crowley’s 

sarcastic responses to the detectives were reasonable in light of how the detectives questioned her.  

In fact, Crowley’s admission that she was being sarcastic rendered her testimony all the more 

credible because “if there was any other possible explanation, wouldn’t she have given it to you?”  

9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1667.  Finally, defense counsel argued that Crowley “didn’t intend to kill 
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her wife,” and asked the jury to find Crowley guilty of the lesser crime of second degree 

manslaughter.  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1681.  

 The jury found Crowley guilty as charged.   

D. SENTENCING 

 Crowley was sentenced to 280 months’ confinement: a 220 month standard range sentence 

with an additional 60 months for the firearm enhancement.  During Crowley’s sentencing hearing, 

the trial court imposed only “the mandatory legal financial obligations . . . because Ms. Crowley 

will be in custody for quite some time, and obviously there has been a financial screening that 

shows there are not resources.”  2 VRP (Sep. 15, 2022) at 89-90.  The trial court imposed a $500 

crime victim penalty assessment (CVPA) and a $100 DNA collection fee.   

 Crowley appeals.   

ANALYSIS 

 Crowley argues that the failure to electronically record her custodial interrogation violated 

her due process rights, and therefore, the trial court erred by admitting her statements to law 

enforcement into evidence.2  Crowley also argues that the trial court erred by admitting P.B.’s 

testimonial statements.  Finally, Crowley seeks a remand to the trial court with instructions to 

strike the CVPA and DNA fees from her judgment and sentence.   

  

                                                 
2  Crowley also assigns error to several of the trial court’s CrR 3.5 findings of fact and conclusions 

of law, but Crowley fails to support the alleged errors with any argument, references to the record, 

or citations to authority.  Therefore, we do not consider these alleged errors.  RAP 10.3(a)(6); 

Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). 
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A. NO DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO THE ELECTRONIC RECORDING OF CUSTODIAL INTERROGATIONS 

 Crowley asks this court to recognize a right to the electronic recording of custodial 

interrogations under article I, section 3 of our state constitution, “enforceable through an 

exclusionary rule.”  Br. of Appellant at 38.  We decline to recognize a due process right to the 

electronic recording of custodial interrogations and hold that the trial court did not err in admitting 

Crowley’s incriminating statements in the absence of such a recording.   

 It is well established that “there is no federal constitutional right to have one’s custodial 

interrogation recorded.”  U.S. v. Meadows, 571 F.3d 131, 147 (1st Cir. 2009), cert. denied, 558 

U.S. 1018 (2009).  However, in State v. Gunwall, our supreme court established six factors 

Washington courts use to determine whether our state constitution “extend[s] broader rights to its 

citizens than the United States Constitution.”  106 Wn.2d 54, 58, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).  Those 

factors are: (1) “The textual language of the state constitution”; (2) “Significant differences in the 

texts of parallel provisions of the federal and state constitutions”; (3) “State constitutional and 

common law history”; (4) “Preexisting state law”; (5) “Differences in structure between the federal 

and state constitutions”; and (6) “Matters of particular state interest or local concern.”  Id. at 61-

62 (italicization omitted).  Our courts have “traditionally . . . practiced great restraint in expanding 

state due process beyond federal perimeters.”  Rozner v. City of Bellevue, 116 Wn.2d 342, 351, 

804 P.2d 24 (1991).  

 Multiple cases have held that due process does not require the electronic recording of 

custodial interrogations.  See State v. Spurgeon, 63 Wn. App. 503, 508-09, 820 P.2d 960 (1991) 

(holding that “the Washington Constitution does not require taping of custodial interrogations”), 

review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1024 (1992); State v. Turner, 145 Wn. App. 899, 913, 187 P.3d 835 
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(2008) (holding “that Spurgeon controls” and that “[t]he State did not violate [the defendant’s] due 

process rights under article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution by failing to electronically 

record the custodial interrogation”), review denied, 165 Wn.2d 1016 (2009).   

In Spurgeon, the court recognized that requiring police to tape custodial interrogations 

would represent “a sweeping change in longstanding police practice,” a change that “should be 

made only after a full hearing of all the policy and financial implications and with adequate 

advance notice to law enforcement in the form of the adoption of a rule of evidence or a statute 

mandating recording.”  63 Wn. App. at 508.   

 In Turner, the defendant “argue[d] that analysis of the fourth [Gunwall] factor, preexisting 

state law, and the sixth [Gunwall] factor, matters of particular state concern, support reaching a 

different result” than Spurgeon.  145 Wn. App. at 908-09.  In support of the first argument, the 

defendant cited three state court decisions, one of which is relevant here: State v. Davis, 38 Wn. 

App. 600, 686 P.2d 1143 (1984).  Id. at 909.  The Turner court stated that Davis was not persuasive 

because the case did “not address the question of whether the state constitution requires police to 

electronically record interrogations, and were decided before Gunwall.”  Id..   

 The Turner court ultimately “reject[ed] Turner’s argument that article I, section 3 requires 

electronic recording of custodial police interrogations.”  Id. at 911.  The court also explicitly agreed 

with Spurgeon’s warning that “‘such a sweeping change in longstanding police practice should be 

made only after a full hearing of all the policy and financial implications and with adequate 

advance notice to law enforcement in the form of the adoption of a rule of evidence or a statute 

mandating recording.’”  Id. at 913 (quoting Spurgeon, 63 Wn. App. at 508).    
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 Here, Crowley argues that recent changes to the law in Washington and other jurisdictions 

have rendered Spurgeon and Turner’s reasoning “flawed and outdated,” and urges this court to 

decline to follow Spurgeon and Turner.  Br. of Appellant at 29.  Crowley cites Davis and the 

recently enacted Uniform Electronic Recordation of Custodial Interrogations Act (UERCIA), 

chapter 10.122 RCW, in support of her argument.   

Crowley’s reliance on Davis is misplaced.  In Davis, the court addressed “whether a 

defendant’s constitutional rights are violated when the trier of fact relies upon his post-arrest 

silence in making a finding of guilt.”  38 Wn. App. at 602.  The court in Davis found that although 

the federal due process clause had been interpreted to allow comments on a defendant’s postarrest 

silence absent a Miranda warning, Washington’s due process clause should be interpreted to 

preclude such comments.  Id. at 602-06.  Davis is distinguishable from the instant case because 

Davis addressed comments on post-arrest silence, not the electronic recording of custodial 

interrogations, and Davis was decided before Gunwall.  See Turner, 145 Wn. App. at 909 (finding 

defendant’s reliance on Davis misplaced because Davis did “not address the question of whether 

the state constitution requires police to electronically record interrogations, and w[as] decided 

before Gunwall”).    

 The UERCIA also does not support Crowley’s argument.  A year after Detectives Frawley 

and Hamilton spoke with Crowley, our legislature enacted the UERCIA in 2021, effective January 

1, 2022.  LAWS of 2021, ch. 329, § 1-24.  Under the UERCIA, “a custodial interrogation, including 

the giving of any required warning, advice of the rights of the individual being questioned, and the 

waiver of any rights by the individual, must be recorded electronically in its entirety . . . if the 

interrogation relates to a felony crime.”  RCW 10.122.030(1).  Where an interrogation subject to 
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the UERCIA is not recorded, “the court shall consider the failure to record . . . in determining 

whether a statement made during the interrogation is admissible, including whether it was 

voluntarily made.”  RCW 10.122.130(1).  The statute expressly states that the UERCIA “does not 

create a right of an individual to require a custodial interrogation to be recorded electronically.”  

RCW 10.122.180(1).   

 Crowley argues that while the UERCIA “enshrines recording as an aspirational best 

practice, it lacks enforcement mechanisms.”  Br. of Appellant at 35.  In essence, Crowley asks this 

court to do what the UERCIA does not—suppress statements that are not electronically recorded.   

The UERCIA requires only that a trial court consider law enforcement’s failure to 

electronically record incriminating statements in determining the admissibility of statements.  

RCW 10.122.130(1).  That may strike Crowley as insufficient protection, but Crowley’s perceived 

insufficient protection does not require this court to revisit the holdings in Spurgeon and Turner.   

The UERCIA appears to be a direct response to Spurgeon and Turner’s observation that it 

is the legislature or our supreme court in its rulemaking capacity that are best positioned to enact 

the kind of “‘sweeping change’” that a requirement for electronic recording of custodial 

interrogations entails.  Turner, 145 Wn. App. at 913 (quoting Spurgeon, 63 Wn. App. at 508).  

Requiring suppression, rather than consideration, of unrecorded interrogations and waivers still 

represents the kind of “sweeping change” the Spurgeon and Turner courts entrusted to the 

legislature and our supreme court.     

 Also, existing state law can weigh against recognizing expanded constitutional rights under 

Gunwall when existing state law suggests the legislature can better address the issue raised by 

appellant than the courts.  In Bellevue Sch. Dist. v. E.S., the appellant argued that our “state due 
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process clause is more protective than its federal counterpart” and “require[d] appointment of 

counsel to represent a child in an initial truancy hearing.”  171 Wn.2d 695, 710, 257 P.3d 570 

(2011).  The appellant in E.S. argued that the fourth Gunwall factor—preexisting state law—

weighed in favor of broader state constitutional protection, citing to a state statute that required 

appointment of counsel for minors facing involuntary commitment.  Id. at 711.  Our supreme court 

rejected this argument, stating, “[T]he fact that the [involuntary commitment] statute explicitly 

provides the right to counsel cuts against [the appellant’s] argument because it shows that the 

legislature is capable of requiring counsel in circumstances where it deems counsel necessary.”  

Id. at 711-12.  Because our “legislature did not choose to require counsel in the context of an initial 

truancy hearing” and actually “granted discretion to the trial courts to decide whether or not 

counsel should be present at the initial truancy hearing,” the fourth Gunwall factor did not support 

recognizing the state due process right appellant sought.  Id. at 712, 713.   

 Bellevue’s logic applies to the instant case.  The fact that our legislature addressed the 

electronic recording of custodial interrogations “shows that [it] is capable of requiring” electronic 

recordings if it wanted to, as well as deciding how to address unrecorded interrogations.  Id. at 

712.  Furthermore, the UERCIA maintains the trial court’s discretion to admit or suppress 

statements made during unrecorded custodial interrogations by requiring that the court consider 

the failure to electronically record “in determining whether a statement . . . is admissible, including 

whether it was voluntarily made.”  RCW 10.122.130(1).  Thus, the preexisting state law Crowley 

cites does not support her argument; rather, preexisting state law reinforces Spurgeon and Turner’s 

holdings because it shows the legislature was capable of, and did, address the issue Crowley raises.    
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 Finally, Crowley appears to argue the sixth Gunwall factor—matters of particular state 

concern—also supports revisiting Spurgeon and Turner’s holdings.  Br. of Appellant at 33-35.  

Crowley cites the laws of several other jurisdictions that “enforce electronic recording policies 

through exclusionary rules or presumptions against admissibility,” implying that because other 

states are particularly concerned about electronically recording custodial interrogations, 

Washington should be too.  Br. of Appellant at 36.  This continues to be a policy discussion of best 

police practices and how to enforce them, but our legislature has already decided the balance by 

enacting the UERCIA, so Crowley fails to establish a reason to reach a different result under 

Gunwall.    

 Ultimately, Crowley fails to establish any reason to depart from Spurgeon and Turner.  

Thus, because state due process does not require that custodial interrogations be electronically 

recorded, the trial court did not err in admitting Crowley’s statements to law enforcement.3      

B. ADMISSION OF P.B.’S STATEMENTS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT  

 Crowley argues that the trial court erred by admitting P.B.’s testimonial statements in 

violation of the confrontation clause.  We agree but hold that admission of P.B.’s statements was 

harmless error.   

1. Legal Principles 

 The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “[i]n all criminal 

prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against 

                                                 
3  We also note that Crowley stated “‘I’ll be honest[,] I shot her’” and “‘I did it. I shot her, I’ll be 

honest with you and I’ll make this easy’” immediately after Detectives Frawley and Hamilton 

opened the door to the patrol vehicle and introduced themselves and before either asked Crowley 

any questions.  1 VRP (Feb. 9, 2021) at 15; 1 VRP (Feb. 16, 2021) at 76-77. 
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him.”  The Supreme Court has interpreted the confrontation clause to prohibit the admission of 

testimonial statements from absent witnesses unless the declarant is unavailable and the defendant 

had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant.  Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 59, 

124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004).  We “review confrontation clause challenges de novo.”  

State v. Scanlan, 193 Wn.2d 753, 761, 445 P.3d 960 (2019), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 834 (2020).   

 We apply the “primary purpose test” to determine whether a statement is testimonial and 

thus subject to the confrontation clause’s strictures.  State v. Burke, 196 Wn.2d 712, 725-26, 478 

P.3d 1096, cert. denied, 142 S. Ct. 182 (2021).  Statements “are testimonial when the 

circumstances objectively indicate that . . . the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish 

or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.”  Davis v. Washington, 547 

U.S. 813, 822, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006).  In contrast, “[w]hen the primary purpose 

of questioning is to respond to an ongoing emergency . . . ‘its purpose is not to create a record for 

trial and thus is not within the scope of the Clause.’”  Burke, 196 Wn.2d at 726 (quoting Michigan 

v. Bryant, 562 U.S. 344, 358, 131 S. Ct. 1143, 179 L. Ed. 2d 93 (2011)).  In determining the 

primary purpose of challenged statements, we “objectively evaluate the statements and actions of 

both the declarant and the individual who hears the statements in light of the circumstances in 

which their conversation occurred.”  Id. at 726.    

 Because “[l]aw enforcement officers are ‘principally charged with uncovering and 

prosecuting criminal behavior[,]’ . . . statements made to them are much more likely to be used as 

a substitute for trial testimony.”  Id. at 728 (quoting Ohio v. Clark, 576 U.S. 237, 249, 135 S. Ct. 

2173, 192 L. Ed. 2d 306 (2015)).  However, “[t]he existence of an ongoing emergency is often an 

indicator that a statement to law enforcement (or its agents) is nontestimonial.”  Id. at 733 
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(emphasis in original).  “[T]here are two ways in which an ongoing emergency may exist: first, 

when the crime is still in progress, and second, when the victim or the officer is in danger, either 

because of the need for medical assistance or because the defendant poses a threat.”  State v. 

Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d 409, 419 n.7, 209 P.3d 479 (2009). 

  In Koslowski, our supreme court identified four factors courts apply to “determine whether 

the primary purpose of police interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing 

emergency or instead to establish or prove past events.”  Id. at 418.  Those factors are (1) whether 

the speaker described current or past events; (2) whether “a ‘reasonable listener’ [would] conclude 

that the speaker was facing an ongoing emergency that required help”; (3) whether “the questions 

and answers show . . . that the . . . statements were necessary to resolve the present emergency or 

. . . show, instead, what had happened in the past”; and (4) the “level of formality of the 

interrogation.”  Id. at 418-19.   

 2. P.B.’s Statements Were Testimonial 

 Here, it is uncontested that P.B. did not testify at trial and that Crowley did not have a prior 

opportunity to cross-examine P.B.  Therefore, Crowley argues that the Koslowski factors “indicate 

that P.B.’s responses to Deputy Kempke’s third . . . question, ‘What happened tonight?,’ are 

testimonial” and should not have been admitted at trial.  Br. of Appellant at 41.  We agree.  

 The first Koslowski factor asks, “Was the speaker speaking about current events as they 

were actually occurring, requiring police assistance, or w[ere] [they] describing past events?”  166 

Wn.2d at 418.  Courts also consider how much time passed between the events and the statements 

describing them.  Id. at 418-19.   
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Here, Detective Kempke recalled P.B. describing past events: “She stated that mom and 

dad had been arguing and mom was throwing things.  That woke [P.B. and her siblings] up,” etc.  

6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 941 (emphasis added).  In Koslowski, the court noted that the victim 

described past events and that the record did not indicate that the perpetrators “might return” or 

that she was still in danger from them.  166 Wn.2d at 422.  The same is true here: Detective 

Kempke had already handcuffed and secured Crowley in the back of a patrol vehicle, so he was 

aware that Crowley was no longer a threat to anyone on the scene.  See State v. Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d 

1, 15, 168 P.3d 1273 (2007) (“[T]he critical consideration is not whether the perpetrator is or is 

not at the scene, but rather whether the perpetrator poses a threat of harm, thereby contributing to 

an ongoing emergency.”).  Furthermore, while Detective Kempke testified that, when he spoke to 

P.B., he did not know who else might be in the home, there was no indication that anyone was 

present besides law enforcement, P.B., and P.B.’s siblings.   

 As to timing, the 911 call began at 7:53 PM, and Detective Kempke testified that he arrived 

on the scene at 8:15 PM.  Detective Kempke also testified that before he encountered P.B., he 

contacted Crowley, detained her in the back of his patrol vehicle, and brought an AED to another 

deputy.  In other words, at least 22 minutes elapsed between the shooting and P.B.’s statements.  

This is significantly longer than the less than five minutes that elapsed between the 911 call and 

officer response in Ohlson.  Id. at 17.  Thus, it cannot be said that P.B.’s “statements were made 

contemporaneously with the events described,” as they were in Ohlson.  Id.  Accordingly, the first 

Koslowski factor weighs in favor of finding that P.B.’s statements were testimonial.   

 The second Koslowski factor asks, “Would a ‘reasonable listener’ conclude that the speaker 

was facing an ongoing emergency that required help?”  166 Wn.2d at 419.  In Koslowski, the court 
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noted that “a reasonable listener would conclude that the danger had passed” because, despite the 

victim’s frightened state, her “statements were made after police had arrived,” and no evidence 

indicated she faced further danger.  Id. at 423.  The same is true here: P.B. spoke to Detective 

Kempke after he arrived on scene, and after Crowley had been removed from the house.  P.B. told 

Detective Kempke where the other children were and did not indicate that any of the children were 

injured.  While P.B. was clearly upset, nothing in the record indicates P.B. faced a future threat 

from Crowley or anyone else on the scene; an emergency cannot be inferred based solely on P.B.’s 

emotional state.  See id. at 424 (“[I]n some cases an individual’s emotional state could also be 

more reflective of the individual person’s own emotional nature than indicative of an ongoing 

emergency.”).   

 P.B.’s “increasingly hysterical” demeanor does not necessarily indicate the presence of 

continuing danger.  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 942.  P.B. never asked Detective Kempke for help, 

and, as noted above, Detective Kempke knew Crowley was already detained and secured in the 

patrol car.  Furthermore, there is no indication that P.B.’s emotional state made it difficult for P.B. 

to answer Detective Kempke’s questions.  Thus, the second Koslowski factor weighs in favor of 

finding that P.B.’s statements were testimonial.   

 The third Koslowski factor asks, “What was the nature of what was asked and answered?  

Do the questions and answers show, when viewed objectively, that the elicited statements were 

necessary to resolve the present emergency or do they show, instead, what had happened in the 

past?”  169 Wn.2d at 419.  In assessing the third factor, the Koslowski court noted: 

[I]nitial inquiries at the scene of a crime might yield nontestimonial statements 

when officers need to determine with whom they are dealing in order to assess the 

situation and the threat to the safety of the victim and themselves.  But it is 
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irrelevant that the statements were responsive to ‘initial inquiries’ unless the 

statements were a cry for help in the face of an ongoing emergency or the statements 

provided information that would enable officers immediately to end a threatening 

situation. 

 

Id. at 425-26 (internal citations omitted).   

Here, P.B.’s response to Detective Kempke’s question about what happened were neither 

“a cry for help” nor did they “provide information that would enable” Detective Kempke to address 

“a threatening situation.”  Id. at 426.  Detective Kempke testified that he did not have any reason 

to think that any of the children were injured at the time he questioned P.B.  And while Detective 

Kempke’s initial questions about how many children were in the house and P.B.’s age and name 

provided Detective Kempke with valuable information about who was on the scene, asking P.B. 

what happened elicited no information indicating an ongoing emergency.  P.B. did not state she or 

her siblings were hurt, she did not indicate that anyone else was in the home, nor did she indicate 

that there was an active threat to her or the officers’ safety.  Moreover, the fact that Detective 

Kempke took notes indicates that the question and P.B.’s response to the question about what 

happened was not intended to address an emergent situation.  Accordingly, the third Koslowski 

factor weighs in favor of finding that P.B.’s statements were testimonial.  See id. (“There is no 

evidence suggesting that police would encounter a violent individual at the residence and no 

evidence that the defendant or [other perpetrators] were still in the vicinity.”).    

 The fourth Koslowski factor asks, “What was the level of formality of the interrogation?  

The greater the formality, the more likely the statement was testimonial.”  Id. at 419.  In Koslowski, 

the court noted that the victim’s “emotional state caused the interrogation to be less formal,” and 

that “questioning [the victim] at her home was certainly less formal than the police station.”  Id. at 
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429.  The same is true here: Detective Kempke asked P.B. what happened in her home.  

Accordingly, the fourth Koslowski factor weighs against finding that P.B.’s statements were 

nontestimonial.   

 On balance, it is clear that, when Detective Kempke asked P.B. what happened, the primary 

purpose was not to address an emergent situation but to memorialize P.B.’s statements about the 

night’s events in case they were needed for a later criminal prosecution.  In fact, Detective Kempke 

admitted he took notes of what P.B. said “in case it turned out to be important later.”  6 VRP (Apr. 

21, 2022) at 942.  Furthermore, when defense counsel asked whether Detective Kempke “took 

notes because [he] thought it could potentially be a homicide investigation,” Detective Kempke 

responded, “It could be, yes.”  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 943.  And while it is true that Detective 

Kempke did not have a full “inventory of the scene” when he arrived, by the time he asked P.B. 

what happened, he knew that Crowley had been detained and secured, he knew where the children 

were, and he had no indication that anyone other than T.D.N.B.—who was being attended to by 

another deputy—was hurt.  6 VRP (Apr. 21, 2022) at 949.  Thus, we hold that P.B.’s statements 

made in response to Detective Kempke’s questioning were testimonial, and that the trial court 

erred by admitting P.B.’s statements in violation of Crowley’s confrontation clause rights.   

 3. Harmless Error 

 Admission of testimonial statements in violation of the confrontation clause is subject to a 

harmless error analysis.  Burke, 196 Wn.2d at 738-39.  “The test for whether a constitutional error 

is harmless is whether the untainted evidence of the defendant’s guilt is so overwhelming that it 

necessarily leads to the same outcome.”  State v. Mayer, 184 Wn.2d 548, 555, 362 P.3d 745 (2015).  

The State must prove harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt.  Burke, 196 Wn.2d at 739.   
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 At trial, the only element of second degree murder that was at issue was intent.4  Thus, we 

must determine whether the untainted evidence of Crowley’s intent to kill T.D.N.B., and the 

evidence that Crowley committed the act within the sight or sound of her children, was so 

overwhelming that the jury would still have convicted Crowley without hearing P.B.’s statements.   

 Here, P.B.’s statements would not have affected the outcome of the trial because there was 

overwhelming evidence of Crowley’s intent to kill T.D.N.B.  First, both gun experts testified that 

Crowley’s rifle would not have gone off unless Crowley pulled the trigger, suggesting that 

Crowley in fact pulled the trigger to kill T.D.N.B.       

Second, Crowley acknowledged, during both direct and cross-examination, that she said 

“something like it was probably muscle memory” when Detective Hamilton commented on the 

placement of T.D.N.B.’s wound.  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) at 1460.  A chest wound is likely to be 

fatal; therefore, the placement of the wound suggests Crowley intended to kill T.D.N.B.   

Third, and most important, Crowley acknowledged the intentionality of her actions at trial.  

During direct examination, Crowley acknowledged both telling the detectives that the shooting 

was not an accident and answering, “[Y]es” when asked whether “it was within the realm of 

possibilities that [she] intentionally pointed the firearm at [T.D.N.B.], intentionally pulled the 

trigger and didn’t remember the gun going off?”  8 VRP (Apr. 28, 2022) 1458, 1459-60.   

                                                 
4  “A person is guilty of murder in the second degree when: . . . With intent to cause the death of 

another person but without premeditation, he or she causes the death of such person or of a third 

person.”  RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a).  The jury was instructed that “[a] person acts with intent or 

intentionally when acting with the objective or purpose to accomplish a result that constitutes a 

crime.”  9 VRP (May 2, 2022) at 1586; CP at 108. 
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 Similarly, P.B.’s statements would not have affected the outcome of the presence of 

children aggravator.  Several witnesses testified that Crowley’s children were at the scene on May 

20, 2020.  For example, during the 911 call, Crowley told the operator that her kids were “in the 

back room.”  5 VRP (Apr. 20, 2022) at 856.  Detective Kempke also testified that he observed at 

least one child in the home.  Detective Frawley testified that as he made his way to the scene he 

was “advised that there were four young children inside the residence.”  7 VRP (Apr. 25, 2022) at 

1176.  Accordingly, the untainted evidence overwhelmingly shows that Crowley’s children were 

inside the residence and within sight or sound of the shooting on May 20, 2020.  Therefore, the 

admission of P.B.’s testimonial statements was harmless error.   

C. LFOS 

 Crowley argues that the CVPA and DNA collection fee should be stricken from her 

judgment and sentence.  The State does not oppose a remand for that purpose.   

 Effective July 1, 2023, RCW 7.68.035(4) prohibits courts from imposing the CVPA on 

indigent defendants.  See State v. Ellis, 27 Wn. App. 2d 1, 16, 530 P.3d 1048, pet. for rev. filed, 

102378-2 (2023).  Also effective July 1, 2023, the DNA collection fee is no longer statutorily 

authorized.  LAWS OF 2023, ch. 449, § 4; RCW 43.43.7541(2).  Although these amendments took 

effect after Crowley’s sentencing, they apply to cases pending on appeal.  Id.; State v. Ramirez, 

191 Wn.2d 732, 747, 426 P.3d 714 (2018) (holding that amendments to our state’s LFO statutes 

apply to cases pending on direct appeal when the law took effect).   

Here, the trial court imposed a $500 CVPA fee and $100 DNA fee on September 15, 2022, 

after finding that “there has been a financial screening that shows there are not resources.”  2 VRP 



No.  57412-8-II 

 

 

29 

(Sep. 15, 2022) at 89-90.  Accordingly, we remand Crowley’s judgment and sentence to the trial 

court with instructions to strike the $500 CVPA and $100 DNA collection fee.   

CONCLUSION 

 There is no state constitutional right to the electronic recording of custodial interrogations; 

therefore, although Crowley’s statements to law enforcement were not electronically recorded, the 

trial court did not err by admitting those statements.  Also, the admission of P.B.’s testimonial 

statements was harmless error.  Therefore, we affirm Crowley’s conviction.  However, we remand 

to the trial court with instructions to strike the CVPA and DNA fee from Crowley’s judgment and 

sentence.   

 A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 

  

 Lee, P.J. 

We concur:  

  

Glasgow, J.  

Che, J.  
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